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ABSTRACT

In July and August of 1993, staff [rom the Alaska Archaeological Survey unit of the
Office of History and Archaeology (OHA), Alaska Division of Parks and Outdoor Recreation,
conducted a historic structures survey in the town of Flat, Alaska. The survey was carried out
under a Cooperative Agreement between the United States Department of Interior, Bureau of
[Land Management and the State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources to document and
evaluate historic properties associated with the Iditarod National Historic Trail.

Located in southwest Alaska between the Kuskokwim and Yukon rivers, Flat was the
largest mining camp in the Iditarod mining district. Gold was discovered in Otter Creek in the
winter of 1908 and the town of Iditarod developed as the supply center for the district. Flat
began as a small mining camp at the confluence of Flat and Otter creeks. By the 1920s, it
supplanted Iditarod as the supply center and largest town in the lditarod district. The residents
huile the town on mmining claims. Flat also became an important destinaiion oa the Iditarod
Trail, which linked the remote mining cainps and towns between Seward and Nome. The clain
holders and large scale mining operators blocked efforts to incorporate the town and Flat was
never platted. Gold mining activity focused on the creeks surrounding Fiat until the 1920s,
when rich gold bearing gravels were discovered under the town. Between the 1920s and the
1960s, natural disasters and several mining operators conducted large scale mining within the
town, forcing merchants and residents to move their huildings. Over the years, mining activity
transformed the appearance of the town. The buildings, structures and sites that survive
illustrate the historic themes of mining, cominerce and cominunity development.

During the 1993 survey, OHA staff inventoried 110 huildings, structures and sites in the
town of Flat. They include 26 properties associated with mining activities, 24 properties
assoclated with commerce, 61 properties used as residences, and nine properties associated with
public buildings or facilities, such as the school, hospital, community hall, and post office.
Ninety-nine of the properties date from 1910 to 1945, including 20 properties from the 1910s,
36 properties from the 1920s, 39 properties from the 19303, and four properties from 1940 to
1945. More than half of Flat's buildings and struciures were moved at least once duve to natural
disasters and mining activities, and many were moved two or three times. The historic fabric
that remains in Flat is a second or third generation mining camp dating from the 1930s and early
1940s. The frontier street-scapes of the 1910s have disappeared.

Thirty-seven properties were inventoried at four mining camps in the immediate area
around Flat. Buildings, structures and sites documented near Flat date from the 1910s to the
1970s. They include 19 properties associated with the Riley/Otter Creek Camp, six properties
associated with the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp, one structure associated with the Riley
Dredge, five properties associated with the Golden Ilorn Mine, and six properties associated
with the Fullerton Camp on lower Flat Creek. These four camps and the Riley Dredge include
two properties dating from the 1910s, six properties dating [rom the 1920s, 14 properties dating
from the 1930s, and one property dating fromy 1940-1945. Most of these buildings. structures
and sites have heen moved, providing additional evidence of a tradition in the Flat area of
moving buildings and struciures.
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alder, ferns, rose, high bush cranberry, lingonberry, raspberry, currant, Labrador tea and
horsetail.

‘The lemperatures average from 37° to 68° Fahrenheit (F) in summer and from -11° to
20° F in the winter. Extremes range from -61° to 90° F. Annual precipitation averages 18
inches including 56 inches of snow {Selkregg 1976:20, 70, 189).

Flat is not connected by road to other western Alaskan cominunities or the Alaska state
road network. Thirty-six miles of secondary reads in the area link Flat and outlying mining
camps. That includes an eight mile road between Flat and [ditarod that was impassable by
vehicle during the summer of 1993, Flat has a 4,900" airstrip that is long enough for C-130 and
DC-6 aircraft to land. The airstrip serves as the local transportation hub. McGrath, located 75
atr miles to the northeast, is the nearest regional air transportation hub. Access to the project
area is possible by boat in the summer by way of the Yukon River, the Innoko River (560 miles)
and the Iditarod River (125 miles) to Iditarod. The advent of air transportation in the 1920s
gradually supplanted river access. Overland access during the winter is possible over segments
of the Iditarod Trail, but winter transportation is limited to local and recreational traffic.

The region is sparsely populated. Flat has been occupied continuously since 1909.
During the winter of 1992-1993, only six people lived in Flat during the winter. The population
in the area increases to 20-30 during the summer due to gold mining exploration and production.
Six families have small mining operations in the area around Flat, but most people reside
elscwhere in Alaska or in the lower 48 states, They rely on Flat’s airstrip and postal services
to carry on their mining operations. Another 10-15 people own buildings in Flat, but use them
seasonally for hunting, trapping, or recreation. Mining is the principal economic activity in the
area. Subsistence and recreational activities have played only a minor role in the area’s
ECONOMY in recent years.

Flat was never incorporated as a local government and the town was never platted. The
tand underlying the town is owned by the federal government and is tied up in mining claims.
In the past. mining claim holders and large mining companies opposed incorporating the town
or platting the land (0 preserve their rights to mine the placer claims under the town.

The principal goais of the 1993 Flat historic building survey were to inventory the
historic buildings and structures in the town and to collect inforrnation about local history and
the built environment. The highest priority was collection of data about the buildings and
structures, A secondary priority was to inventory buildings and collect data on nearby mining
camps and the ghost town of Iditarod. Limitations on transportation between Flat and Iditarod
allowed the crew to spend only two days at Iditarod. The results of the partial inventory of
Iditarod will be presented in a separate report. Four mining camps near Flat (Figure 2) were
partially or fully inventoried during the 1993 field season. They included the Riley/Ouer Creek
Dredging Company Camp, the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp, the Golden Horn Camp, and
the Fullerton Camp on lower Flat Creek. The resources documenied in those four camps are
included in this report.

The cultural resources survey crew from the Office of History and Archaeology consisted
of project leader Rolfe Buzzell (historian, Ph.D), Steve Posgate (historian, MA), and college
history interns Darrell Lewis and Ursula Schwaiger. Volunteer Dean Littlepage and BLM
archaeologist Julia Steele also assisted with the field work for short periods.







HISTORIC CONTEXT

Introduction

The town of Flat is associated with the development of gold mining and settlement in the
Iditarod Mining District. It is also associated with the Iditarod National Historic Trail. Flat
started as a mining camp in 1908 in the shadow of the town of Iditarod, the supply center for
the new mining district. In the 1910s, the town of Iditarod went into decline as Flat emerged
as the principal mining camp. Flat replaced Iditarod as the main supply town and population
center of the district in the early 1920s. During the 1920s and 1930s, the physical layout of Flat
changed due to natural disasters and mining within the town’s boundaries. Merchants,
businessmen and residents were forced to move their huildings and homes as draglines and
dredges mined the ground on which the town had been built. World War II practicaily brought
mining in the Iditarod district to a halt. Mining resumed after World War II, but Flat gradually
declined as the richest placer deposits were worked out.

Nature of the gold deposits and early mining development

Understanding the nature of gold deposits on Flat and Otter ereeks is necessary to explain
the mining history and its effect on the town of Flat. Prospecting for gold in the lower Yukon
and Kuskokwin river drainages began in the 1880s and accelerated with the Klondike and Nome
gold rushes in the late 1890s. Prospectors found placer gold on Ganes Creek, a tributary of the
Innoko River, in the summer of 1906. News of that strike caused a stampede of miners,
resulting in discoveries on Ophir Creek in 1906 and Ruby Creek the following year. In the
winter of 1908, prospectors William A. Dikeman and John Beaton went up the Haiditarod
(Iditarod) River and prospected on Otter Creek. On Christmas Day they discovered gold 12
miles above the mouth of Otter Creek and two miles above its confluence with Flat Creek
(Mentie and Harrington 1924;10%; Mertie 1933:217). On the way to Ophir to recerd their find
in early 1909, Diketnan and Beaton reported the discovery to the crew of a steainship bound for
Fairbanks (Mackey 1988:82).

Once news of the discovery reached Fairbanks, it took little time for a stampede to start.
Prospector Lawrence Ramus discovered gold on Flat Creek on November 5, 1909, prompting
a rush to that creek during the summer of 1910 (BLM 1982:88). Mining activity concentrated
along 2.25 miles of Otter Creek and on the lower reaches of Flat Creek several miles above its
mouth (Brooks 1911:44-45). The district was originally known as the Otter Mining District,
which encompassed Flat, Iditarod, Discovery and a number of camps in the immediate area,
Flat Creek held the richest placer deposits. Miners staked the first claims in the vicinity of Flat
in 1909 on what is now known as the Glen Association claims just south of Flat. The Marietta
Claim on upper Flat Creek proved to be the richest claim in the district. Values averaped
$13.50 per square foot at 1909 gold prices (Carter 1988:48.50). Flat Creek quickly became the
jewel of the district.

While Flat Creek contained the richest gold deposits, the gold bearing gravels on Otter
Creek were unusually wide, particularly near its confluence with Flat Creek. Otter Creek’s pay
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streak varied from 1,200 feet wide on the Glen Association claims to 2,000 feet wide near the
mouth of Flat Creek, making Otter Creek one of the widest pay streaks in North America
{Gularte 1992:1). Starting in Flat, the pay streak extended 1.5 miles up Otter Creek (Mertie
1933:7-14). Flat and Otter creeks became the largest producing streams in the Iditarod district
and eventually accounted for an estimated 1,067,000 ounces, or ahout 65 percent of the total
gold production of the area between 1915 and 1990 (Bundtzen er al. 1992:22).

Early mining methods included steam powered hoisting engines and manual labor.
The miners removed the overburden, excavated siream deposits, lifted the gold bearing gravels
to washing plants, passed it through sluices, and removed tailings (Maddren 1911:261). The
stampede drew laborers in farge nuinbers, prompting miners in Fairbanks to play down the
importance of the find in order to stem the flow of laborers from the Fatrbanks area (Idirarod
Pioneer, April 8,1911). By late 1910, 3,000-4,000 people were working in the district
(Miscovich 1995:1-2; Carter 1988:10). Sixteen operations in the vicinity of Flat and Otter
creeks employed 250 men and produced about $500,000 in gold. This increased to 850 men and
about $2,500,000 in 1911 (Bundtzen ef al. 1992:18).

Settlement of Flar and Iditarod, 1908-1920

The new district was initially supplied froin a bastily built town called Otter City at the
mouth of Otter Creek. Prospectors poled boats carrying equipment and supplies up Otter Creek
to the mining camps. The town of Iditarod, wbich was downsteeam from Ouer City at the head
of navigation on the Iditarod River, was established in June 1909. lditarod rapidly displaced
Ouer City as the district’s supply center. Fuel, food, machinery, parts, building materials and
other necessities came by boat. Fromn Iditarod, horses carried supplies and equipment eight
miles overland to the mining camps (Figure 3). By September 1910, over 1,000 tons of supplies
and equipment had arrived in Iditarod and 5,000 tons were on the way (Carter 1988:10). In
1910, the recording office for the Otter Mining District was established at Iditarod (Mackey
1988:89, 102). Most of the mining activity was in the vicinity of the confluence of Flat and
Oter crecks. Several mining camps, including Flat and Discovery, quickly grew into towns.

The first miners set up tents along the banks of Flat Creek near their claims. Frank
Stanley built a roadhouse at the mouth of Flat Creek on June 7, 1910, and is credited with the
founding of Fiat. He was 50 successful that in a short time he expanded his business (Figure
4). Other people established businesses at the site (Mackey [989:117). Flat started as a small
scatter of tents. Soon businesses and residences stood on the south side of Otter Creek and the
west side of Flat Creek, near the present location of the Matheson Dredge (Miscovich 1995:1-2).
Within two months, the camp had a population of 1,000, three roadhouses, and an assortment
of businesses and dry goods stores, shops, laundries, bars, blacksmiths, and restaurants (BLM
1982:88). The residents named the town after Flat Creek. At first the town was characterized
by tents, log buildings, and muddy streets. As the community grew, the merchants and residents
constructed wood fraine buildingsand wooden sidewalks. Within two years, Flat and tbe nearby
community of Discovery housed tnost of the miners and small businesses that serviced the
mining industry in the district (Bundtzen et al. 1992:20).
















boundaries, during Flat's early years they visited the town and attended social gatherings such
as community dances (Bagoy 1995:138).

The Iditarod Trail was important in Flat's development, given the community’s isolated
location in western Alaska, the long winters, and the seasonally frozen waterways. During the
winter months, the trail was the only transportation link between Flat, other Alaskan
communities and the outside world. The Iditarod Trail hegan in 1910 when the Alaska Road
Commission blazed a trail from Seward to Nome by way of the Innoko and Iditarod mining
districts. The government established a post office in Flat in 1912 (U.S. Postal Records 1912).
Dog sleds carried the winter mail, passengers, and, occasionally, gold throughout the 1910s and
early 1920s. Mail carriers arrived in Flat every Saturday afternoon from McGrath and the dogs
were sheltered in specially modified dog barns. Dog and horse drawn sleds transported
equipment, supplies and wood over local or "feeder” routes of the Iditarod Trail during the
winters. Miners occasionally transported equipment to Flat by dog sled, although most heavy
equipment came into the district during the summer months by boat through Iditarod (Fullerton
1995:116, 117).

Gold production and the numher of people living in the Iditarod mining district peaked
m 1912, In 1913, production in the district dropped to 89,977 ounces and the number of people
employed dropped to 750 (Bundizen ef af. 1992:18). The population of Flat averaged 700-800
people through the early and inid 1910s (Bagoy 1995:140). Many miners left the district in
1917 and 1918 to sign up for the military during World War 1 (Bundtzen et al. 1992:22).
Mining production declined to less than a quarter of the 1912 figures; only about 90 men worked
at mining in the district (Brooks and Martin 1921:92). Discouraged by low returns of gold, the
Guggenheims closed down their operation and dismantled their Yukon Gold Dredge in 1918 only
a few hundred yards southeast of Flat. A gold sirike in Ruby drew additionat miners from the
Iditarod mining camps (Herms 1965:37). Gold production came primarily from the two
remaining dredges in the Otier Creek drainage and a few hydraulic operations on Otter and Flat
creeks. Flat’s population dropped to around 500 in the late teens {(Bagoy 1995:1-140). The
growth of the husiness sector in Flat partially offset the population decline until the end of World
War 1, when gold produciion and the oumber of people employed in area mining began to
inerease again.

Flat’s gradual decline in population in the 1910s contrasted with the stecep decline in
Iditarod. Promoters and merchants had overestimated the mineral wealth in the district and
overbuilt facilities in Iditarod. lditarod’s status as the transhipment, supply center, and seat of
local government was short lived. By 1918, the population of the district declined to half the
number of people present during the stampede (Martin 1920:48). Business receipts in Iditarod
during 1918 dropped to a third of their 1917 total. By 1920, the population of the town of
Iditarod was about 50 (Mackey 1989:110, 122). Equipment and supplies landed at Iditarod were
often hauled directly to Flat. Warehouses, commercial buildings, and houses were moved on
skids in the winter from lditarod to Flat. Bolstered by close proximity to the mines, Flat
prospered at the expense of Iditarod. Flooding and rechannelng of the Iditarod River in 1922
left the town of Iditarod on a shallow oxbow slough. The town was virtually ahandoned by the
late 1920s.
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moved ta its present location in the 1944 after it was damaged during flooding in 1942 (Agoff
1995:217). During the 1930s, the Alderson family inoved their home and the post office {IDT-
076) up the hill directly to the south of where the building was originally located. The Futlerton
House (IDT-133) was also moved from the south edge of Otter Creek to higher ground in the
1930s (Miscovich 1995:1V-52; Fullerton 1995:1-113).

Flat was hastily built on mining claims, which had major consequences for the town.
Claim holders allowed merchants and residents to build on their miming claims on condition that
Lhe occupants move if the claim holders wanied to mine the claims. Mining initially focused on
upper Flat Creek and by 1912 the thriving town was pearly the size of Iditarod {(Polk 1912:257}.
In December 1912, a town commission was organized in Flat to oversee the community prior
to a planned incorporation vote. The arrival of the Guggenheim interests disrupted attempts to
form a local government and a vote on incorporation never occurred (Mackey 1988:118). The
Guggenheims acquired every claim on lower Flat Creek, including those beneath the town.
They brought in a dredge and proceeded to mine much of lower Flat Creek, including the
southern end of the town. The Guggenheims started a trend of acquisition and consolidation of
large blocks of claims and mining them by large-scale technology. John Beaton, J.E. Riley,
Harry Donnelley and Alex Matheson continued the trend in the following decades, displacing
large numbers of miners and laborers. Gold production in the district increased, but the
population dropped sharply and many merchants had to close their husinesses. As the number
of residenis declined, the impetus to establish a local government in Flat dissipated. Local
businesses worked with the U.S. Marshall aud the U.S, Commissioner in Iditarod to maintsin
order, but the development of the amenities of a local government, such as fire protection,
elected officials, and platied streets, never occurred in Flat.

In the early 1920s, the Northland Develoment Company began profirtably remiuing
Guggenheim tailings with a dragline at the southern edge of town. The company forced
residents who had built houses on these tailings in the late 1910s off the claims (Miscovich
1995:1-2-3). This trend of forced relocation of buildings in the town continued for many years
as claims beneath the town were mined and remined. The mining operators kept their plans
secret and gave short notice to businesses and residents as to which claims they would mine.
The 1924 fire, which laid waste to a large tract of rich ground, accelerated the mining of claims
under the town. Alex Matheson, who purchased the Beaton Dredge, took advantage of the 1924
fire to prepare ground under the townsite for dredging. He tacked notices on doors advising
building owners that they had to move by spring. Using skids and horses, residents tnoved their
buildings to the east (Miscovich 1995:1-7, 1I-24), shifting the geographical center of the town.
During the winter of 1935, resideuts moved a number of buildings, including the Flat School
House (prior to 1921, the Guggenheim Hospital, IDT-093), the Mutchler/Miscovich House
(IDT-094), and the Little John Miscovich House (IDT-095), to prevent their destruction by the
Beaton Dredge (Fullerion 1995:109).

In the early 1930s, Alex Matheson began dredging up the west side of Flat Creek on
virgin ground adjacent to the Guggenheim tailings (Mertie 1933:7-14; Mertie 1936:207).
Matheson dredged on the south and west sides of Flat throughout the 1930s, forcing building
owners to relocate their buildings in those sections of the town. During the same time period,
Harry Donnelley’s crews worked on the north side of the Flat airfield, thawing ground for Lhe
Riley Dredge which followed themy (Mertie 1933:220; Barnett 1995:1-170). In 1938, Matheson
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Alex Matheson also owned a complex of buildings at Flat in the 1920s and 1930s.
Matheson began his career in Flat as the manager of the Beaton Dredge. Matheson convinced
John Beaton thai the claims under the town were worihless, Beaton sold the claims and the
dredge to Matheson, who renamed the business the North American Dredge Company (NADC).
Matheson mined the claims under the town, forcing relocation of most of the buildings that
existed in Flat after the 1924 fire (Miscovich 1995:1-3, II-16). Imitially, Matheson used the
Riley/Donnelley Machine Shop, and bought fuel, equipment and supplies from Donnelley and
Sheppard. In the late 1920s, Matheson began finding ways of becoming increasingly
independent of Donnelley. Dredge operators in Flat traditionally relied on other businesses,
particularly Donnelley’s, for support services, Matheson started bucking that trend in the 1930s
and 1940s by constructing a complex of buildings to service his equipment, store his supplies,
and feed and house his workers (Miscovich 1995:1-13, III-33). In the mid-1940s, Matheson and
other miners began hauling fuel and supplies from Crooked Creek, 40 miles to the east on the
Kuskokwim River, on freight sleds in the winter (Agoff 1995:221, 234). They also started
flying groceries into Flat instead of buying from Donnelley. The NADC compilex, which
included a Macbine Shop (IDT-110) and other maintenance storage facilities, was located in
southeast Flat. The complex represents a large part of the Matheson holdings from the 1930s
and 1940s.

By the late 1920s, business and comunerce in Flat had become divided between Donnelley
and Sheppard on the one hand and Turner and Wood on the other. As one of the largest mining
enterprises in Flat, Alex Matheson also played a significant role in the local economy. These
three entities engaged in increasingly competitive business practices (Agoff 1995:211, 251).
Every resident and minet in the area relied on one of these operations for work, fuel, supplies,
food, or services such as banking and assaying. People who worked for or purchased supplies
or services from one of these three operations were expected to be loyal to that operation. "If
you needed the bank," one long-time resident recalled,

you had to go to Harry Donnelley. If you needed groceries and you went to
Turner [and Wood] and you went back to Donnelley, you wouldn’t get any
money and you wouldn’t get any freight hauled.... It was a very distinct division
line as to who you did business with here [in Flat] if you wanted to continue in
business {Miscovich 1995:1-13).

The competitiveness and bitter feelings between the owners of these three business empires
divided Flat into economic spheres of influence and filtered down into social interactions
between people in the community.

As the business community consolidated in the 1920s and 1930s, the prosperity of
successful mining and business interests was expressed in the owners’ new homes. Early Flat
residences tended to be small, utilitarian log or frame cabins with few adornments or amenities.
George Turner built a large two-story home in the 1920s, which was later destroyed by fire.
Harry Donnelley built a large, two-story home (IDT-085) near his commercial complex in the
late 19205 to replace the smaller residence he and his wife occupied on Flat Creek Road. Alex
Matheson built a comfortable two-story home (IDT-102) in the late 1920s for his wife Marie.
The Donnelley and Matheson families lived outside of Alaska during the winters.
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After Harry Sheppard died in the mid-1930s, Donnelley hrought Bob Acheson, Tom
Jensen, Milton Roper, Tom Balange, and their families to Flat to help him run his business
interests. These men settled in modest but comfortable homes on Flat Creek Road. Local
residents referred to their residences on Flat Creek Road as the "500 Club” and "Brainy Guich”
because Donnelley paid these employees well and they were intensely loyal to him (Miscovich
1995:111-46, 1V-61; Fullerton 1995:115). Other businessmen and miners also buift new homes
in Flat during this period. These homes were more modest in size than the Donnelley and
Matheson residences, but featured architectural detailing, such as hipped roofs, that reflected
more status than the utilitarian cabins which sheltered most of Flat’s miners and workers.
Another sign of prosperity during these years was evident in some houses of prostitution on Lhe
north side of Otter Creek. While prostitutes were not allowed on the south side of Otter Creek
in the 1920s and 1930s (Marks e af. 1995:143), the wealth of some of the community’s more
poputar madams was reflected in the large and well appointed houses, The houses occupied by
Finn Annie (IDT-160), Violet Wadsworth (IDT-150) and Flossie Winters (IDT-151) were nearly
as large as the Donnelley and Matheson homes.

Another sign of prosperity in Flat was the construction of public facilities. The Alaska
Road Commission (ARC) began constructing and maintaining roads and bridges in the area m
191¢ and continued doing so until statehood (ARC 1910:10; Miscovich 1995:IV-67). The
ARC’s district headquarters in the years before 1933 were in Takotna, but the ARC set up
seasonal construction camps at miles three and five of the Flal-Iditarod Road. In the 1930s, the
ARC constructed a local headquarters and maintenance shop (IDT-171) and a garage (IDT-172)
on the north side of Otter Creek (Miscovich 1995:1V-67, 68). The ARC constructed an airfield
1.5 miles northeast of Flat in 1925 (ARC 1926:82). During the early 1930s, the ARC
constructed a second airfield on tailing piles at the eastern edge of Flat. This hecame Flat’s
main airfield and was enlarged in subsequent years (ARC 1929:116-117; ARC 1936:10; Hesse
1941:55). Pan American Airways and Alaska Airlines offered regular passenger service to Flat
in the 1930s and 1940s, and occupied buildings at the airfield to service their flights (Bamett
1995:1-160, 164). The development of air transportation decreased the importance of the winter
dog sled trail. After the first mail planes hegan flying in 1925 or 1926, overland mait delivery
ceased and the Adams/Lawrence Dog Barn (IDT-090) closed. As the freight carrying capaeity
of aircraft increased, airplanes also took business away from river boat operators who carried
freight.

The first postmaster was appointed for Flat in the fall of 1912 (U.S. Post Office Records
1912). During Flat’s early history, the post office was located in various private residences.
In later years, the post office operated out of a small frame building (1DT-124), then the
Alderson residence {IDT-070), and later in the Donpelley and Sheppard Store (IDT-077). The
government closed the Iditarod post office in 1929, forcing the few remaining residents to travel
to Flat for their mail (Mackey 1989:121). The U.S. Ammy Signal Corps also constructed
facilities and stationed personnel in Flat. The first wireless station was built on the hillside
between Flat and Iditarod. The first Signal Corps station in Flat was on Flat Creek Road in a
house previously occupied by Harry Donnelley. Shortly before World War II, the Signal Corps
constructed a large, two-story facility on tailings south of the NADC complex (Miscovich
1995:1V-49-50}.
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largest percentage of the men working in mining. The larger-scale mining operations were more
efficient than other types of mining and employed fewer people.

During the 1920s, the number of people in the district gradoally declined. The 1920
census listed 158 people residing in Flat (Mackey 1989:122). During 1924, 135 people engaged
in mining in the area (Bundtzen, ef al. 1992:18), while an addiiional, uncounted number of
people provided support services. In the following decade, the number of people engaged in
mining in the district rose from 110-125 in 1932 (Smith 1934:32}, to 150 in the mid-1930s
(Smith 1937:41), and 250-300 by the end of the decade as gold production reached $776,000
annually (Smith 1941:44-45).

The number of people in Flat was much larger during the summer than winter as the
mining season attracted workers. Fewer people were hired during dry summers when shortages
of water for thawing and hydraulic operations made operations difficult. One observer estimated
the seasonal population in Flat in the mid-1930s at 400 10 500 people (Barnett 1995:162). Some
of the smalter operators, such as the Miscovichs, Fullertons, Olsons, and Strandbergs, achieved
moderate success wnining in the area during the 1930s. Most people living in Flat during the
summers were lahorers only for the brief mining season. Those who stayed year-round tended
to be long-time miners. Many of them worked in stores, cut wood, or hauled fuel and supplies
during the long winter months.

Flat during and after World War I

Gold production peaked a second time in the Iditarod district in 1941 at 23,257 ounces,
but dropped off after America’s entry into World War II. Mining equipment, parts, fuel, and
labor became scarce in Alaska as the nation’s priorities switched from civilian to military
preduction. In late 1942, the federal government enacted the Gold Mining Limitation Order,
L-208, placing gold mining in the Iditarod and other mining districts on a permit basis for the
duration of the war. Dredging activity in the Flat area ceased during 1943 (Bundtzen et al.
1992:22, 24). The Matheson Dredge resumed operation in 1944, hut only because Alex
Matheson had stockpiled fuel and spare parts and found sufficient men to operate. Six other
mining operations using bulldozers and hydraulic giants operated in the vicinity of Flat in 1943
(Henderson and Cushman 1945:225-226, 235).

Flat’s year-round population, which had grown in the late 1930s, declined during the war
years. The 1940 census reported 146 people living m Flat during the winter (Mackey
1989:122). In 1941, 142 people were employed in mining in the district and they produged over
23,000 ounces of gold. Workers left the area during the war, and within two years production
dropped by alinost 20,000 ounces {(Bundtzen et al. 1992:19).

The effects of the war on mining had a significam and lasting impact on the town of Flat.
As people left town, a number of businesses closed and many buildings were abandoned. Day
Navigation disconfinued freight operations on the Iditarod River afier World War II started.
Andrew Miscovich clased the Branch Pool Hall just before the war and never reopened it. Even
after the federal government rescinded Order L-208 in July 1945, mining continued but at a
reduced level compared to the 1930s. The Matheson Dredge and six to nine small or medium
sized operations continued mining in the area in the immediate post war years (Ransome 1948:
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1300, 1308; Stewart 1947:20; Ransome 1950:1388; Ransome 1951:1364). There was
insufficient business to support two general stores, so Harry Donnelley bought and closed the
Turmer and Wood Store. The Adams Hotel closed right after the war (Miscovich 1995:]-8, 9,
14, 11-17). The Donnelley and Sheppard Store (IDT-077) and the Joe Parker Saloon (IDT-072)
were two of the few remaining businesses in Flat in the late 1940s. Families that had lived in
the community for a decade or longer left in the years immediately after the war (Marks er al.
1595:143).

Mining activity increased in the late 1940s. By 1949, 62 people were employed in
mining in the district (Bundizen er al. 1992:19), Most were seasonal workers and the exodus
of families continued. Two years later, the territory closed the Flat school (IDT-093) because
there were no longer any schoot age children (Novatney 1951). Mining declined in the district
in the 1950s due to inflation which pitted the fixed price of gold against rising operating costs.
The Riley Dredge, which shui down during World War II, rematned inactive until 1953 when
Harry Steen and John Ogriz leased it and resumed operations on Otter Creek (Kerns and
Holdsworth 1956:31). Ogriz and a new partner, Arnold Kobler, operated the Riley Dredge until
1958 under the name Otter Dredging Company (Kerns, er al. 1958:110; Kaufman, er g/. 1960:;
100-101). The Matheson Dredge operated each season until 1956 (Kaufman er al. 1958:98-99)
when Alex Matheson suffered a stroke. He leased the dredge to several former employees who
operated it during the 1958 season. In 1960, John Stevens bought the Matheson Dredge. He
operated intermittently during the 1960s and made one last pass with the dredge through Flat
(Miscovich 1995:1T1-38, I-11). Stevens moved the Donnelley and Sheppard Store (IDT-077),
the Assay Office (IDT-(079), and a number of residential buildings out of the way as he dredged
through the center of the town, This was the last period of building relocation in Flat directly
associated with mining. Afier that, Stevens shut down the dredge. It remains on Lhe western
edge of Flat where it last operated (Figure 12).

The Miscovich family bought the Riley Dredge in 1958 and operated it on Otter Creek
until 1966 (Miscovich 1995:V1-94). The Riley Dredge is still located four miies east of Flat
near the old Discovery Claim where John Miscovich left it. Small mining operations using
mechanized equipment continued on the creeks surrounding Flat in the 1960s. Federal de-
regulation of the price of gold in 1972 led to a modest revival of placer mining in the arca. In
the early 1990s, five placer mines employed 20 people in the area. Geologists from several
mineral corporations engaged in exploratory activity in the area, but no mining within the
boundaries of the town has occurred since the late 1960s.

As the high cost of mining and diminishing gold returns made mining less profitable,
more people left Flat in the 1950s and 1960s. Fifty people lived in Flat during the winter of
1950. In the mid-1950s, the population rose to 78, reflecting an increase in mining activity.
This included five families, but no children of school age. When water supplies for sluicing
were plentiful, mining operators in Flat employed four to ten Natives from Holy Cross,
Shageluk, and other villages in the region (Paegle 1955). The town, however, continued to
decline. Harry Donnelley closed the Donnelley and Sheppard Store in 1955 and later sold it.
his house, and other property in Flat to John Stevens for $5,000. In 1960, Stevens purchased
Matheson’s Diredge, House, and the other holdings of the North American Dredging Company
for $20.000 (Miscovich 1995:IT1-38). By 1960, the population of the community was 27
(Mackey 1989:122). Stevens operated the Donnelley and Sheppard Store until the rnid-1970s,
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he died in 1979. In 1993, only six people resided in Flat year-round. The U, S. Post Office
and maintenance of the Flat airficld provide the only non-mining jobs in Flat.

When residents and seasonal workers left Flat, many ahandoned their homes and
buildings because there was no one willing to buy them. In some cases, cabins, houses, sheds,
or commercial buildings were sold to other residents or people from outside the area who use
them seasonally for hunting or recreation. The remaining residents moved buildings to more
convenient places. Local miners also moved buildings from: mining cainps on other creeks in
the area, such as Slate Creek which was located four miles east of Flat, to camps on the creeks
surrounding Flat. Some abandoned buildings coliapsed. Flat residents salvaged lumber and
other building materials from some of the abandoned buildings. The long standing practice of
moving or salvaging buildings, plus the pertodic mining within the townsite, has dispersed Flat’s
buildings over a wide areca. Many of the remaining buildings, structeres and sites in Flat are
overgrown by alder and birch trees. The frontier street-scapes of the 1910s, which were so
familiar in Alaska’s mining frontier, gave way in Flat to a scatter of buildings and structures
patterned by five decades of mining activity within the town.
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PREVIOUS CULTURAL RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS

The Kuskokwim Mountain area between the Kuskokwim and Innoko Rivers has not been
systematically surveyed for cuitural resources. During the fate prehistoric and historic periods,
the Ingalik and Holikachuk Athapaskans occupied the territory along the lower Kuskokwim and
Innoko rivers, and the Kolchan Athapaskans occupied the territory of the upper Kuskokwim
River, between Takoina and Rainy Pass. Studies by Oswalt (1980), Clark (1981), and Simeon
(1982) document the subsistence and trading patrerns of the interior Athapaskans. The Ingalik
and Holikachuk maintained a riverine subsistence pattern (VanStone 1979; Snow 1981). The
Kolchan relied less on rivers as they focused their seasonal rounds primarily on hunting and
secondarily on fishing (Hosley 1966, 1881). These three Athabaskan groups developed exiensive
trade relationships with each other and with other Native groups prior to Russian contact. They
also developed a network of overland and water routes to travel to subsistence camps and trading
sites (Clemens 1992a).

Flat is on the eastern edge of Ingalik territory and west of Kolchan territory. The Ingalik
and Kolchan occupied the area at the time of Euro-American contact but were driven away from
the area by the influx of miners during the gold rush. There have been no archaeological
excavations in the area around Flat and Iditarod. The closest reported Native site to Flat is
Khadilotden (IDT-002), an Ingalik village reported on the west bank of the Iditarod River just
upstream from the town of Iditarod. The exact location of the village has not been verified.
A Kolchan village site on Fourth of July Creek (IDT-033) is located 58 miles northeast of Flat
on the Takotna-Flat Trail. This site has been mapped but not tested (Lynch 1979).

Culturat resources surveys that bave been conducted in the Flat-Iditarod area have
focused on identifying historic resources associated with the Iditarod Trail. Initial studies began
in the 1970s when the lditarod Trail was nommated for designation as a national historic trail
(U.S. Department of the Interior 1977). The Bureau of Land Management conducted extensive
reconnaissance surveys in the late 1970s and early 1980s to locate and document sites along or
adjacent to the primary and secondary (feeder) trails associated with the Iditarod and Nome gold
rushes. A large number of buildings, strucrures and features were identified (Lynch 1979; U.S.
Department of the Interior 1982; 1986), but only two historic resources in the Flat-Iditarod area
were documented in detail (Buzzell 1992a; Clemens 1992b) prior (0 the present sady, BLM
has reviewed federal mining pernits in the project area for impacts on cultural resources. Most
of those reviews have not included field visits and no significant cultural resources have been
documented on mining claims.

United States Geological Survey reports and field notes (Maddren 1911; Eakin 1913;
Mertie and Harrington 1924; Mertie 1936} and a recent analysis of mining in the Iditarod district
(Bundtzen er al. 1992) are important sources on the history of mining in the area. Other studies
have focused on the development of river transportation in the area (Brown 1983} or overland
transportation. Studies focusing on the history of the lditarod Trail that contain information on
the Flat-Iditarod area include Lynch {1979), Spude (1982), U.S. Department of the Interior
(1982; 1986), Stirling (1986). Buzzell (1992b} and Clemens (1992b). Oral histories collected
as a part of the Iditarod National Historic Trail project include Alaska Department of Education
(1981) and Buzzell {1995). Thompson (1972) and Mackey (1989) focus on the history of the
town of lditarod.
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PROPERTY TYPES

Historic themes associated with the town of Flat include mining, commerce, and
community development. The inventory of buildings, structures and sites from the historic
huilding survey of Flat suggests four property types associated with these historic themes. The

property types are:

Mining Properties--The first property type consists of buildings, structures and
equipment associated with mining. This property type includes mineral extraction equipment
and features, such as dredges, pumphouses, drilling equipment, and water diiches. It also
includes huildings and struciures associated with maintenance and support of mining equipment,
such as workshops, garages, machine and carpentry shops, and parts warehouses. The property
type also includes buildings for feeding and housing miners, including bunkhouses, mess halls,
and washrooms.

Mining properties include heavy equipment made of iron, steel or wood, and one and
two-story, woad frame buildings with shed or gahle roofs. The huildings tend to be spartan and
utilitarian in nature. They usually feature lumber, shiplap or corrugated metal siding and
corrugaied metal roofs. Some of these properties are built on tumber skids and were designed
to move ahout to support mining activities. Maost are on log, timber, post, or block foundations.

Commercial Properties--The second property type is associated with the transport,
storage, and sale of goods and services. Commercial properties were used to provide food,
services, durable goods, and industrial equipment to mining companies, residents or travelers.
Buildings include stores, banks, warehouses, blacksmith shops, barns, restaurants, hotels, bars,
and houses of prostitution.

Commercial properties are wood frame, one or two-story buildings, usually with gable
roofs. Some contained decorative features such as false fronts and store fronts, recessed entries,
transom windows, decorative windows with a row of diamond lights at the top, and soffits with
remrns. Other commercial buildings were utilitarian warehouses with lumber, shiplap, or
corrugated metal siding. Houses of prostitution, consisting of one or two-story buildings,
doubled as residences.

Residential Properties--The third property type consists of buildings and outbuildings
associated with the living accommodations of the residents of Flat. These buildings include
small log cabins and wood frame dwellings occupied by small scale miners and laborers, and
larger residences that were inhabited by merchants, accountants, and mining company owners.
They also include outbuildings, such as sheds, garages, greenhouses, and outhouses that are
associated with residential activities.

Residential properties are log or wood frame buildings with a gable, shed or hip roof.
Residential buildings vary in size from one-story buildings with a single room to two-story
buildings with multiple rooms. Many residential structures have one or more wood frame
additions with shed roofs,
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Public Propertics-—-The fourth property type consists of buildings and structures
associated with public activities, such as the community hall, hospital, school, and post office,
or with buildings associated with governmental activities, such as puhlic road maintenance.
They include structures to shelter and maintain equipment and outbuildings such as sheds and

outhouses.
Public properties are onc or 1.5-story wood [rame buildings with gable or shed roofs.
The exteriors are usually covered with shiplap. Many of the buildings have additions that

feature gable or shed roofs.
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PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS IN FLAT (IDT-005)

For the purposes of describing the buildings, structures and features of Flat in this report,
the town of Flat is divided into nine areas (Figure 13). The buildings, structures and features
in each geographic area are tied together by one or more themes such as a commercial,
industrial, public or residential.

In the following section, a map of each geographic area is followed by a description and
history of each building, structure or site. Photographs are included for significant buildings,
structures and features.
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Figure 13. Map showing nine geographic areas of Flat.




Mid-town

Mid-town is located in the middle of Flat and contains some of the community’s public
buildings, such as the schoot and community hall. It also contains some of the oldest buildings
in Flat, dating from the 1910s. The older buildings were moved to this area after the 1924 fire.

This section of Flat (Figure 14) includes 16 standing buildings and the ruins of seven other

huildings.
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The Community Hall (IDT-070), also known as the Moose Hall, is a rectangular, one-
story, wood frame building (Figure 15). It measures 30°x47°7". The foundation is stacked

Figure 14. Map of Mid-town Flat.

wood blocks. The gable roof is felt (tar) paper covered with corrugated metal, Shiplap siding
with corner boards covers the exterior walls. An arctic entry with double doors is centered on
the west elevation and flanked on each side by a large four-light fixed sash window. The north
and south elevations have three evenly spaced 1/1 double-hung windows on each side.
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The Donnelley Commercial Complex

The Donnelley Commercial Complex (Figure 34) consists of buildings that Harry
Donnelley constructed on site and buildings that he moved to the complex from other locations
in Flat or Iditarod. The compiex includes eight buildings associaled with Donnelley’s
commercial activities and two buildings associated with his living quarters.

Harry Donnelley was one
of Flat’s most influential busi-
nessmen in the 1920s, 1930s and
1940s. Donnelley moved from
Iditarod to Flat in the 1910s and
managed the Riley Dredge until J.
E. Riley was murdered in 1918.
Donnelley assumed control of the
J.E. Riley Company and used the
profits from the dredge to bwid
the largest commercial and in-
dustrial supply enterprise in the
Iditarod mining district. In the
early 1920s Donneiley acquired
Fullerton's General Merchandise
Store in Flat and the Northern
Commercial Company Store in
Iditarod.  After the 1924 fire,
Donneliey built a new store (IDT-
077) amd consolidated the
operations of the Miners and
Merchants Bank and Lhe two
stores into the new store.
Donnelley’s commercial empire

included the largest general store U Buildings
in Fiat, the only bank, the assay o Sites
office. the telephone system, the

Standard Oil franchise, the 0

Chevrolet dealership, and the Day
Navigation Company. Donnelley
was the largest employer in Flat Figure 34, Map of the Donnelley Commercial
and wielded considerabie influence Complex.

in the community.

Faet

The Donnelley and Sheppard Store (IDT-077) is a rectangular, one-story, wood frame
commercial building (Figure 35). The main poriion of the building measures 34'x76'4". The
foundation consists of wood blocks. The building has a gable roof covered with corrugated
metal. The siding consists of shiplap with corner boards. The main entrance is the west side
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The Matheson/North American Dredging Compary Complex

Alex Matheson and his mining operation, the North American Dredge Company
{(NADC). emerged as a third major sphere of economic influence in Flat. As manager and later
owner of the Beaton Dredge, Matheson was responsible for most of the building refocation that
occurred in Flat after the 1924 fire (Miscovich 1995:1-3,11-16). Unlike the Turner and Wood
or the Donnelley and Sheppard complex, the buildings in the Matheson/NADC complex (Figure
51) were establish-
ed to support min-
ing operations
rather than com-
mercial  ventures. N J £ — —
Most of the build- / fﬁ.?ogﬂ—u_ 1110
ings east of the _ @SS
Matheson House PP
(IDT-102) and | ] D7-108
south of the NADC (@ Uu-1
IDT-111

Machine Shop
EEIDT-’HZ

(IDT-110) were
part of the

Matheson/NADC

complex. D|DT'1‘|3 £ 00
In the late S 0o°

1910s, 1.E. Riley 5o IDFi1e

owned and operated iDT-114

the only machine
shop in the Flat
area, After Riley's
death, Harry Don-
neiley obtained
conirol of the
tnachine shop and
other services
required to susiain
a large-scale
dredging operation.

John Beaton and his
dredge  manager, 0. 200 1
Alex Matheson, feat zz

used the Riley/
Donneliey machine
shop to service the
Beaton Dredge.
They also bought

Figure 51, Map of the Matheson/NADC Complex.
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terior walls. The main entry is on the south elevation, which contains a 1/1 horizontal double-
hung window and a five-panel door. The west elevation has a 1/1 horizontal double-hung
window. The east elevation has a three-panel door, a 6/6 horizontal double-hung window, and
a six-light, fixed sash window.

An addition on the east side of the north elevation has a gable roof oriented north-south
and covered with corrugated metal. The addition measures 15°7"x18’1" and is sided with
roofing feli. The east elevation of the addition has a plank door covered with roofing felt. The
north elevation has a 6/6 horizontal single-lmng window and a three-pane! door. A shed roof
addition located on the west end of the north side of the Cook House measures 10°3"x10°10".
The roof is covered with corrugated metal and the siding is asphalt roofing felt over horizontal
wood siding. A six-light, fixed sash window faces north.

The cook’s quarters is a rectangular, one-story, wood frame building located 4’2" south
of the mess hall. The foundation is horizontal timbers on grade, Corrugated metal and roofing
felt cover the gable roof, which is oriented east-west. The building measures 12°4"x18°4" and
the exterior walls are covered with roofing felt. A two-panel door faces north and is covered
by a corrugated metal porch which links the huilding to the Mess Hall entry. A single-light,
fixed sash window is also located on the north elevation. A 1/1 horizontal single-hung window
1s Jocated on the west elevation and a boarded vp window is located on the south elevation. A
shed roof addition located on the east end ol the structure measures 8’2"x8°3". The roof and
exterior walls are covered with roofing felt over wood siding.

The dates the mess hall and cook’s quarters were built are unknown. Prior to 1946,
Matheson’s employees lived in their own accommodations and took their meals at Durand’s
Restaurant. Matheson moved the mess hall from Slate Creek to Flat in 1945 and installed a
large walk in freezer in the building the following year. The cook’s quarters originally belonged
to Andre "Scotty” Dundas who lived in the building near the present location of the Kepler
House (IDT-123). Mathesor moved the building to his complex about the same time that he set
up the Mess Hall. From 1946 to 1957, Matheson’s crew ate at the mness hall and the cook lived
in the building directly to the south (Agoff 1995:235). After Matheson sold the property, John
Stevens operated a wholesale store in the mess hall building in the 1970s (Miscovich 1995:1-12).

The Matheson Storage Building (IDT-105) is a rectangular, one-story, wood frame
building (Figure 56) with an addition. The foundation consists of logs. The gable roof has
corrugated metal on one-side and weathered roofing felt over wood decking on the other. The
building measures 15'x23°11". The exterior is covered with roofing felt over veriical wood
siding and features corner boards. The main entrance is on the east elevation, which features
a pair of large plank doors, although one of the doors is missing. A boarded up window is
located on the north elevation. A boarded up six-light, fixed sash window and a boarded up
personnel door are located on the west elevation.

An addition with a collapsed shed roof is on the west side of the building. The addition
measures 12°2"x23°11". The shed roof is covered with corrugated metal over roofing felt and
the exterior is covered with roofing felt over horizontal wood siding. A single-light, fixed sash
window is located on the west elevation. The south elevation has a two-light, fixed sash
window. A helt driven table saw and extra glass windows were stored in the building in 1993.
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West Flai

Historic resources in west Flat (Figure 69) are associated with dredging, mainienance and
suppon activities for mining, and residential activity. This area was part of the early townsite
of Flat, but no early buildings or foundations remain. The area has been dredged several times.
Distinctive herring-bone tailing piles run through the center of the area.

Alex  Math-
eson began dredging
on the west side of
Flat in 1932 with the
Beaton Dredge (Mer-
tie 1933:7-14;, Mis-
covich 1994:111-32).
He continued dredg-
ing in and around
Flat throughout the
1930s. [n 1938, he
rebuilt the dredge
and proceeded to
dredge the old town-
site a second time
(Miscovich 1995:1-
3). In the 1960s,
John Stevens made
one last pass through
the center of Flat
with the Matheson
Dredge. The dredge
is located on the
west side of Flat Figure 60. Map of west Flat.
where Stevens shut
down operations.

The Matheson Dredge (IDT-118) is a two-story, steel frame structure (Figure 70). The
steel hull measures 39°x84" and rests on a shelf in a dredge pond. Galvanized metal covers the
flat roof and exterior walls. The enclosed first floor structure measures 39'x57". The secend
floor consists of a 20'x20°10" structure. 2 20°x21°5" addition on the east end, and a 15'x16°2"
addition {the bridge or control room) in the northwest corner. The ganury and the bucket line
support structure are located on the west side of the dredge. A five-panel personnel door and
an eight-light, fixed sash window are located on the first floor on each side of the gantry. A
tripte 1/1 single-hung window is located on the bridge on the second floor. The stacker, which
ts approximately 100’ long and enclosed in galvanized metal, extends out the back or east end
of the dredge. A five-panel door, a utility door, and an eight-light, fixed sash window are
located on either side of the stacker on the first floor. Two four-light, fixed sash windows are
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Flat Creek Road (Figure
75) was primarily a residential
area. Residents consisted of a mix
of white collar workers employed
by Harry Donnelley and miners’
families. This area was referred
to as the "500 Club® or "Brainy
Gulch” because Donnelley and
many of his better paid employees
lived on the road. The northern
haif of the residential area along
Flat Creek was mined by dredge.
The area is characterized by
tailing piles or tailings that have
been graded. The southern end of
the residential area was not mined,
and many of the buildings were
damaged by permafrost. The
southern end of Flat Creek Road
also has resources associated with
early dredging. These resources
include the Martin Creek Ditch
and the Guggenheim Parts Ware-
house.

The  Fullerton/Durand/
Roper/Byrd House (IDT-133) is
an "L" shaped, one-story, wood
frame building (Figure 76). The
foundation consists of logs on a
raised rock pad. Wood shingics
cover the gable roof. The house
measures 12°2"x22'9", The exter-
ior walls are covered with roofing
felt over wood shingles., The
main entry is on the east
elevation, which contains a
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Figure 75. Map ol Flat Creek Road.

boarded up four-light, fixed sash window and a shed roof arctic entry measuring 4'2"x52". A
four-panel door with one light is located on the north elevation of the arctic entry. The north
elevation has two boarded up windows. The south elevation has a boarded up window and a
gable roof addition extending soutb from the main portion of the building. The addition
measures 12°2"x14’3" and has a hoarded up window centered on the south elevation. A single-
light, fixed sash window on the east elevation. This addition gives the house an "L" shape.

83




























building. A window opening is located on the north and west elevations of the addition. The
building and its additions are in poor condition.

A collapsed pole frame outhouse measuring 3'2"x3°7" is located 42’ south of the house.
The shed roof 1s covered with fautened gasoline cans and the exterior is covered with vertical
and horizontal siding. A large garbage dump is located 40’ northwest of the house. The
garbage is spread out over an area measuring ahout 20°x30°. Artifacts include metal fuel
barrels, gasoline cans, corrugated metal, lumher of various sizes, food cans, and cooking
utensits.

The Bassoff/Sakow House was built in the 1920s or early 1930s. Harry Bassoff lived
in the house in the early 1930s. After Bassoff moved to Fairbanks, Walter Sakow, a Russian
miner on Willow Creek, lived in the cabin from the inid-1930s until 1950. Sakow had a log
cabin next to his house. Harry Kardanoff, who was part Native and was married to Tasiana
Demientieff, lived in the cabin with his family in the late 1930s and early 1940s. After
Kardanoff moved out of the cabin in the fall of 1941, Sakow tore the log cabin down for wood.
Nothing remains of the log cahin except for a few pieces of lumher on the ground. Sakow died
of tuberculosis in the cabin in 1950 {(Agoff 1995:228-229}).

No remains were found of the old Donnelley/ACS Wireless Station. Harry Donnelley
lived in a small house in the 1920s and mid-1930s on the east side of Flat Creek Road.
Donnelley’s house was located directly across the street from the Bassoff/Sakow House. After
Donnelley huiit a new home (IDT-085), the Signal Corps used his old house as the Wireless
Station in the late 1930s (Fullerton 1995:116; Miscovich 1995:1V-30; Agoff 1995.:231).

The remains of the Becker House Ruins (IDT-139) are located 53’ east and 27 south
of the Bassoff/Sakow House. Only the east wall and paris of the north and south wall of an
addition that faced Flat Creek Road are intact and standing. The foundation is on grade and the
sbed roof of the addition is covered with gaivanized metal. The rewmains of the addition
measures 4’2"x10°7" and the exterior is covered with flatiened kerosene cans over board and
batten siding. A window opening faces south, A work hench is located inside the addition,
which appears to have been 2 workshop,

A rectangular poie and wood frame shed is located south and west of the Becker House
ruins and 80" west of Flat Creek Road (Figure 85). The foundation is on grade, Corrugaied
metal covers the exterior walls. The building measures 7°2"x10°6". The shed roof is covered
with corrugated metal, but the west half of the roof is missing. A screen mattress frame and
an enamelware pilcher are located inside the building. A four-panel door is laying on the ground
northwest of the building. A scatter of scrap metal, gas cans and barrels are located east of the
building.

The date the Becker House was buili is unknown. Edward “Cap” Becker lived in the
house in the 1930s. Becker was from Germany and he was the captain of the riverboat Nome
before he came to Flai. He mined claims on Bonanza and Chicken creeks. He had long
whiskers and was said to look like a pirate. His house was built of logs with kerosene ¢ans
covering the exterior walls. Only the frame addition facing east remains. Becker left Flat in
the fall of 1937 and died shorily thereafter in Fairbanks. The c¢abin was abandoned and
remained standing until Freddie Demicntieff tore it down in 1957 ar 1958 for the wood. The
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The Nash/Miller [louse was built in the late 1920s or early 1930s. Harold Nash worked
tor George Tumer and lived in the house in the early and mid-1930s. Louis Miller, a French
Canadian, and his Native wife, Lucy, and their nine children moved into the house in 1937.
Miller was a miner who worked for Frank Manley and Pete Jensen on Willow Creek. Later he
worked for Alex Matheson driving thawing points and working on the Matheson dredge. Miller
built the addition on the east side of the house. He died in an accident on the Matheson Dredge
in 1947. His widow continued living in the house untii she moved to Anchorage in 1950. The
house was abandoned after that. The house was still standing in 1958, but Joe Loranger tore
it down (Miscovich 1995:1V-57; Fullerton 1995:116; Marks 1995:143-144; Agoff 1995:207,
231).

No evidence of Site DDDDD, which appears on a 1976 aerial photograph, was found in
1993, A small shed was present at this location. The shed was similar in size and construction
to Cap Becker’s shed (IDT-139) (Agoff 1995:231).

The Acheson House (Site WWWW), occupied by Bab and Betty Acheson, was located
just north of the Manin Creek Ditch on the east side of Flat Creek Road. Bob Acheson worked
for Harry Donnelley (Agoff 1995:232). No evidence of the Acheson house or its foundation,
which appears on a 1976 aerial photograph, were found during the 1993 survey.

The Martin Creek Ditch (IDT-142) is a man-made structure that has been excavated
along the hillside south of Flat. The ditch is a linear feature that begins on upper Martin Creek
and runs in a northeast direction. It crosses Flat Creek Road and runs east and south along the
west side of lower Flat Creek. The ditch is about 6" wide and about 4' deep. Alder and small
birch trees are growing in the diich.

Alex Matheson’s crew built the Martin Creek Ditch in 1954. Water from the ditch was
diverted for ground sluicing and thawing operations west of Flat to prepare the ground for
dredging. Matheson abandoned the ditch shortly after it was constructed because the gold yield
was weak on the ground west of Flat (Agoff 1995:226).

The Guggenheim Machine Shop (IDT-143) consisis of the ruins of a large, rectangular,
one-story, wood frame and log warehouse building (Figure 88). The foundation is on grade.
The gable roof, which has collapsed, was covered with corrugated metal. The outline of the
building measures 23'x47°. The exterior was covered with wood siding. Most of the west wall
is standing. The other walls have collapsed. A 6/6 single-hung window, two boarded up
windows, and a boarded up door are located in the west elevation. Poruons of the north
elevation, including a section of wall and part of the gable, are laying on the ground. The wall
section contains a plank door. Another section of the north wall contains log framing, A
portion of the west end of the south elevation is still standing and contains a plank door.
Another section of the west wall containing a plank door is laying in the ruins. A shed roof
addition was attached to the south end of the warehouse. The addition measured 14°x23°, A
portion of the addition’s west elevation is standing and contains a boarded up window. Another
section of the west elevaiion has collapsed and contains a partial window opening, The sputh
and east walls of the addition are collapsed.
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a two-light, fixed sash window are centered on the west side. A shed addition on the south side
measures 7°x11°10". The roof is covered with corrugated metal and the exterior is covered with
wood siding. The south elevation contains a pair of utility doors and a window frame. A
boarded up window is located on the west elevation. A shed addition on the east side of the
building measures 7°10"x20°7". The exterior walls of the addition are covered with shiplap.
A double-wide entry with the remains of two plank doors are on the north elevation and there
is a door opening on the south elevation.

Another rectangular, one-story, wood frame structure is located 14’ east of the shed. The
second building measures 9'8"x11°8". Corugated metal covers the gable roof and exterior
walls. A vertical plank door is centered on the south elevation. A shed roof addition measuring
3’8"x5°1" is located on the west half of the north elevation. A fenced pig pen links the two
buildings.

The date these buildings were constructed and whether they have heen moved are
unknown. Sturey Stenberg, 4 miner, lived in the log portion of the larger shed from at least the
mid-1930s until 1948. Later, Emil Gustafson, 2 wood cutter who resided in Flat for only a few
years, used the buildings for storage. He sold them to Darrell Olsen in the 1970s. Olsen, who
resides in Wasilla, remodeled the buildings and uses one of them for a steam bath (Agoff
1995:243-244; Miscovich 1995:1V-62).
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Northwest Flat

Northwest
Flat (Figure 127)
is located on the
north  side of

Oner Creek and 0 100 N
west of the Red

Light District. _ Fast

Historic resources \

in northwest Flat AN

are located along

the road leading

from Flat (o
Iditarod. The
resources include
buildings or ruins

associated  with [} Bulidings % L]
residential, trams- Sites D"\T
portation, and e «~ IDT170
commercial acti- [:E:l

iDT-172 -
vities. / j

The Wiltiams/
Bacstrom/Black- —. 9
well/Pierson [y

House (IDT-170) £ IDT171
is a rectangular, (!

one-story, wood
frame building
with an addition
(Figure 128). The foundation is logs on grade. Corrugated metal covers the gable roof and the
shed roof addition. Celotex covers all of the exterior walls. The house measures 12°x16°. The
main entry is on the south elevation, which inciudes a five-panel door and a 6/6 horizontal
double-hung window. A six-light, fixed sash window is centered on the east elevation. A shed
addition on the west side of the house measures 12°x16°. A 6/6 double-hung window is centered
on the south elevation. A 2/2 horizontal double-hung window is located on the west elevation
and a five-panel door is located on the north elevation.

A one-story, wood frame storage huilding measuring 7°x15° is located 25° north of the
house. The south half of the storage building has a shed roof covered with corrugated metal and
the exterior is covered with shipiap. A five-panel door and a four-fight, fixed sash window face
south. The north haif of the building has corrugated metal on the shed roof and exterior walls.
A plank door covered with corrugated metal faces west. A wood frame outhouse measuring
5'6"x6" is located 55’ northeast of the house. The outhouse has a shed roof covered with

Figure 127, Map of northwest Flat.
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The ruins of the Gularte/Donnelley and Sheppard Warm Storage Building constitute one
of the oldest sites in Flat. The building was constructed in the early 1910s, but the builder and
the date of construction are unknown, Manuel Gularte used the structure as a warehouse for his
grocery stove in Flat during the 1910s and early 1920s. Donnelley and Sheppard bought
Gularte’s business in the early 1920s and used the Warm Storage Building to store perishables
such as potaioes and onions. Donnelley and Sheppard used the building until the 1930s (Bagoy
1995:139; Miscovich 1995:1V-68; Gularte, personal communication 1991).

The Cottonwood Cemetery (IDT-247) is located on a bench overiooking Otter Creek
and the town of [lat. The cemetery is located about a quarter of a mile north of the
Gularte/Donnelley and Sheppard Warm Storage Building and one-half mile east of Cottonwood
Creck. Approximately 50 people are buried in the vemetery, which covers about ong acre of
ground. Many of the graves are marked with wooden crosses or headboards. A few graves
have cement or granite markers. A number of the graves are unmarked, as the markers have
deteriorated or been removed.

The first person buried in the cemetery was Jim Blodget, who died about 1926. Prior
to that, people who died in and around Flat were buried in the cemetery at Iditarod. A few
residents from Flat were buried in the cemetery at Iditarod after 1926 (Agoff 1995:252).

The Steen/Van Lumin/Agoff Cabin (TDT-246) is located on a bench on the north side
of Otter Creek on the west side of Reindeer Gulch. The building is located about one-halt mile
north of the west end of the Flat airstrip. The cabin is a rectangular, one-story wood frame
building with a gable roof covered with corrugated metal. The foundation is wood blocks and
the cabin measures 16°x20°. A woodshed covers the main entry on the west side of the building.
A entry on the east side of the building was the original front door,

This cabin was not visited during the 1993 survey, but is included in the survey because
it is one of the oldest buildings in Flat. According to long-time Flat resident John Ogriz, the
cabin was buili in 1914, It has been moved at least 3 times. Harry Steen was living in the
cabin in the tate 1940s and early 1950s. Steen was the dredge master on the Matheson Dredpe
and he died in 1953. At that time, the cabin was setting on tailings in southwest Flat near one
of Alex Matheson’s warehouses (IDT-104). Steen’s widow sold the cabin to Stanley Van
Lumin, who sold it to Sergie Agoff about 1958. Sergie and Alvin Agoff moved the building w0
its present location on the hillside overlooking Flat in the spring of 1963 (Agoff 1995:252;
Miscovich 1995:111-34).
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Figure 133. Map of the Riley/Otter Creek Dredging Company Mining Camp.

Creek Camp was closer to the Riley Dredge than the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp. The
Miscovich family expanded the Riley/Otter Creek Camp (Figure B), moving buildings there
from other mining camps or from Flat, After John Miscovich shut down the Riley Dredge in
1966, he continued using the Riley/Otter Creek Camp as his base of operations for placer and
lode mining in the Otter Creek vailey (Miscovich 1995:VI-101, 107-108).

The Mess Hall Building (IDT-202) is a one-story, wood (rame building with six
additions (Figure 134). The foundation is wood blocks. The exterior of the Mess Hall and the
five additions are covered with roofing felt. The gable roof is roofing felt covered with
corrugated metal. The Mess Hall measures 24"x38°7", The main entry is on the south
elevation, which has two (wo-light, fixed sash windows and a three-panel door with one light.
The door is covered by an arctic entry with a shed roof. The entry measures 7'x15” and the
roof is covered with corrugated metal. The south elevation of the entry has a three-panel doot
with one light, a six-light, fixed sash window, and a nine-light, fixed sash window. The north
elevation of the Mess Hall has a two-light, fixed sash window, a 2/2 double-hung horizontal
window, and a window that is covered with corrugated metal.

A one-story shed roof addition measuring 14’4"x24" is located west of the Mess Hall.
The shed roof is covered with roofing felt and canvas. A single-light, fixed sash window faces
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The Bathhouse (IDT-206) is a rectangular, one-story, wood frame building (Figure 138).
The foundation is logs and beams on grade. The gable roof is covered with corrugated metal.
The building measures 21°6"x23'2". The siding is roofing felt, except the west elevation which
is covered with shiplap. The main entry is on the south elevation, which is covered by a shed
roof addition measuring 5°6"x12°6". The roof of the addition is covered with cormigated metal.
A two-panel door with six-lights and a six-light, fixed sash window face south. A four-light,
fixed window faces west. The east elevation of the Bathhouse has a two-light, fixed sash

window. An addition
on the north side of
the building has a shed
roof covered with cor-
rugated metal. The
addition measures
10'2"x16’, The ad-
dition is open on the
south side and has
wood siding on the
north and west sides.
Gus Uotiia
built the Bathhouse in
the 1930s at his camp
on Slate Creek. John
Miscovich moved the
huilding to the Rilev/
Otter Creek Camp in
the late 1950s or early : :
1960s  (Miscovich Figure 138. The Bathhouse, 1993.

PR . o . J.

1995:V1-104). The view is looking northeast.
Bunkhouse #2

(IDT-207) is a rectangular, one-story, wood frame huilding (Figure 139) located 38’ east of the
Bathhouse (IDT-206). The foundation is beams and barrels on grade. The gable roof is made
of corrugated metal. ‘The Bunkhouse measures 12'2"x16’4", Celotex and batten boards cover
the exterior walls. The main entry is on the south elevation, which contains a five-panel doer.
The north and west elevations have a two-light, fixed sash window. A three-panel door is
located on the east elevation.

East of the building is a shed roof structure supported by four log posts. Under the
corrugated metal roof is a siove surrounded by yellow bricks. "F.S. Lang Mfg. Co. Tank
Front, Seattle” is engraved on the stove.

John Miscovich built this two-three person bunkhouse at the Discovery/Peter Miscovich
Camp in the late 1930s. The Miscovich family used the building in their drill testing program.
John Miscovich moved the building to the Riley/Otter Creek Camp in the 1960s (Miscovich
1995:VI-104).
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The Discovery/Peter Miscovich Mining Camp

The Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp (IDT-221) consisting of six wood frame buildings
(Figure 151} located about one mile east of the Riley/Otter Creek Camp and two miles east of
Flat. The buildings include a bunkhouse, a workshop and garage, Peter Miscovich’s
Office/Residence, a Generator Shed, a Parts Shed, and a Blacksmith Shop.

[] Buildings
|DT-226

~ IDT-222
__7 |

IDT227

Faat

Figure 151. Map of the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp.

Peter Miscovich (Figure 152) started buiiding the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp in
1924 as his headquarters for mining operations in the area. It was originally called Discovery
Camp because it was located on the Otter Creek mining claim where gold was first located in
the Iditarod Mining District and it was on the opposite side of Otter Creek from the town of
Discovery. Many of the buildings at the camp were constructed elsewhere and moved to the
camp. Peter Miscovich ined placer claims in the vicinity of the Discovery Claim on Ofter
Creeck for three decades, using this camp as his headquarters. After his death in 1950, his
family contimied using the camp as its base of mining operations. The Miscovich family
purchased the Riley Dredge in 1958 and moved its base of aperations to the Riley/Otter Creek
Camp. Peter’s son, John Miscovich, moved a number of the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp
buildings to the Riley/Otter Creek Camp in the late 19505 and 1960s. The Miscovich family
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The Golden Horn Mine

The Golden Horn Mine (IDT-228) is located one-half mile southeast of the Discovery/
Peter Miscovich Camp. It consists of two buildings and three structures (Figure 160) that are
ussociated with gold lode mining at the Golden Horn Mine during the 1920s and 1930s. The
mining part of the complex consists of a log cribbed vertical shaft. a wood framed ventical shaft,
and a horizontal shaft.
The camp portion of
the complex is located
about one-gight mile

southwest of the mining | 100 N § IDT-231
teatures. The mine and L !

camp are connected by Feet /E“ st

a dirt road. The camp (DT-229

IDT-230

porticn consists of a
two-story wood frame
bunkhouse and an assay
office and outhouse. :
John Miscovich tore ]
down a boiler house '
near the mine shafts and - +/—
moved a  generator
building (IDT-217) to
the Riley/ Otter Creek
Camp. The buildings
and siructures that
remain at the Golden
Hormm Camp were in
fair condition in 1993.
Rasmus Nielson,
a Daurish geologist, dis- Figure 160, Map of the Golden Horn Mine.
covered (he Golden
Horn gold-tungsten-antimony lode deposit in 1921. In 1922, John Warren continued to develop
the property. He installed a small stamp mill and processed surface and underground ores,
Mining engineer Wesley E. Dunkle leased the propenty in the mid-1930s and did further
exploratory work. From 1925 to 1937, 518 tons of high grade ores were extracted from
underground workings, yielding 2,706 ounces of gold, 2,620 ounces of silver, and 9,336 pounds
of lead, mostly mined and shipped by Dunkle. John Popavich also mined and shipped ore in
1937. By 1938, underground workings consisted of two shafts with a combined depth of 303",
1,025’ of drifts, and 480" of crosscuts. No further production from the underground workings
has been reported. John Miscovich leased the claims from Bob Lyman from 1952 to 1973, then
purchased them (Miscovich, personal communication, February 23, 1995). In 1977, a
consortium of Union Carbide, WGM Incorporated, General Crude, and GCQO Minerals
conducted extensive subsuiface testing of Golden Horn deposits. The results were inconclusive

IDT-232

[] Buildings

Structures
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Rasmus Niel-
son started building
the horizontal adit in
1921. John Warren
extended the adit in
1922. Wesley E.
Dunkie also used the
adit in the 1930s
during his attempt to
develop the mine
{(Bundtzen e al.
1992:22).

Figure 163. The Golden Horn Wood Framed Shaft (center)
and Log Cribbed Shaft (right), 1993. The view is east.
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The Fullerton Mining Camp on lower Flar Creek

The Fullerton Mining Camp on lower I'lat Creek (IDT-234) consists of five buildings,
the ruins of two other buildings, and two sites (Figure 164). The standing buildings include a

small bunkhouse, a garage, two
sheds, and an outhouse laying on

its side. Tbe two building ruins
are the remains of an outhouse '
and a shop building. The site is
located on the west side of [Flat )
Creek and on the east side of Bulldozer Tegil IDT-237
Flat Creek Road. A buildozer '—_—,
trail bisects the mining camp. N 2
All of the buildings and ruins are Debris 1 S
located between this trail and 2550,
Flat Creek. A beaver pond SR
created by tbe damming of [Flat IDT-238 — ) - - - - SETTes
Creek is located on the east edge S
of the site. Water from the pond IDT-239 — SSEsss
has backed up tuato several build- AR
ings. The site aiso includes a A R
scatter of debris on the east side AT
of the dirt road and a scauter of = ES=
lumber on the west side of the Lumber Pile ST T TS
road. At least one other build- ESSEees
ing, a tool shed, was located at AT
the camp. Mark Kepler moved — F'%t C‘rjaek
the tool shed to Flat and con- o8 LNy IDT-240
verted it to a shower building ol
(IDT-123). .

John and Richard L] B!.udings
Fullerton buit this mining camp & Shtes
on lower Flat Creek in 1956, IDT-241
The camp was their headquarters 0 30 |:|
whlle they were mining in the IWI IDT-242 1" «— " Hat Cresk
adjacent area for three or four { \
summers. All of the buildings at

the camp came from Patty Sav-
age's old mining camp, which
was located further up Flat
Creek.

Figure 164, Map of the Fullerton Mining Camp
on lower Flat Creek.

The Fullemon brothers abandoned this camp about
communication, July 25, 1993; Kepler 1995:123).
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EVALUATION

During 1993, the cultural resources survey crew documented 110 buildings, strucrures
and sites in the town of Flat and an additional 37 properties in four nearby mining camps. Only
significant buildings, structures and sites are included in these numbers. Qutbuildings, such as
sheds and outhouses, were not generally included in the count of properties inventoried. OQut-
huildings were included with principal structures as one property. A list of buildings, structures
and sites in Flat, organized by geographic area within Flat, can be found in Appendix A. A list
of buildings, structures and sites in the four mining camps near Flat can he found in Appendix
B.

Evaluation of properties in Flat

Historic themes represented by the buildings, strucrures and sites in Flat include mining,
commerce, and commuuity development. Table 1 shows the historic uses of the 110 properties
inventoried in Flat. The table also shows historic uses by geographic area within the town,
Twenty-six properties were used for mining or mining related activities. Twenty-four properties
were used for commercial purposes, such as stores, hotels, restaurants, bars, and houses of
prostitution.  Sixty-one properties were used as residences. Nine propertics were public
buildings or facilities, such as cominunity halls, schools, and post offices. The historic use of
one property is unknown at this time. Eleven properties were used for multiple purposes, such
as a residence from 1920 to 1935 and commercial activity from 1936 to 1950,

Proper-
Indust- Comuner-  Residen- Up- Total ties with Total

Surv res rial ¢ial tigl Public known Uses Muiti-use Propenties
Mid-town 5 3 13 3 0 24 [5] 19
Donnelley Complex - 8 1 - - 9 - 9
Turner & Wood Complex - 5 1 - - 6 - 6
Matheson/NADC Complex 12 - 5 - 1 18 [11 17
West Flat 3 - 1 - - 4 - 4
Ftat Creek Road 2 I 12 - - 15 - 15
Southcentral Flat 2 0 6 2 - 10 [1] 9
Airstrip l l 2 f - 5 - 5
Red Light District 1 5 18 - - 24 4] 20
Northwest Flat - 1 2 3 - _6 - _6a

Totais 26 24 6l 9 1 121 [11] 110

Table 1. Historic uses by geographic area of properties inventoried in Flat.

Flat’s 110 buildings, struetures and sites date fromn 1910 to the 1980s. Table 2 provides
a breakdown of the Fiat’s historic resources based on the decade of construction. Ninety-nine
of these resources, a vast majority, date from 1910 to 1945. They inctude 12 buildings, two
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structures, and six sites that date from the 1910s,
23 buildings, one strucure, and 12 sites that date
from the 1920s, 33 buildings, one structure, and
five sites that date from the 193Qs, and four

buildings that date from 1940-1945. Nine
properties date from 1946 through 1987. The
dates that the remaining two properties were built
are unknown, but probably date from: the 1930s
or 1940s,

Due to events in the town’s history, such
as natural disasters and mining within the town,
many of Flat’s historic resources have changed
considerably over time. While there are a
significant number of buildings, structures and
sites that have survived from the 1910s, 1920s
and 1930s, many of those resources have changed
considerably. Most of Flat’s early buildings
were small, reflecting a first geperation mining
camp in a remote area of Alaska’s interior where
building materials were expensive or difficult to
obtain. As the area matured as a mining district,
miners, businessmen and residenis made addi-
tionis to their buildings to provide additional
space for commerce, industrial activity, and
tiving quarters.

More than half of Flat’s buildings and
structures were moved between 1924 and the late
1960s due to natural disasters or mining activity
within the townd’s boundaries. Some buildings
were moved as many as three limes so that
draglines or dredges could get at the gold bearing
gravels under the town (Miscovich 1995:1-2, 11).
Table 3 provides a breakdown by geographic area
of buildings and structures in Flat that have been
moved, The table includes a nuinber of "moved"”
sites, in which the buildings have collapsed, been
destroyed or were partially or fully demolished
for salvage after they were moved. Sixty of
Flat’s historic resources, more than one-half,
have been moved. Thirty-seven historic
resources are in their original location. It is not
known if the remaining 13 historic resources, all
of which date from the 1920s and 1930s, have
been moved.
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Resource Not Un-
Type Moved Moved known Totat
Mid-town
Buildings 2 3 - 15
Struclures - - - 0
Sites 4+ - - 4
Donnelley Commercial Complex
Buiidings 3 2 2 9
Strucnares - - - 0
Sites - - - t]
Turner and Wood Commercial Compiex
Buildings 3 - - 3
Structurcs - - - 0
Sites 1* 2 - 3
Matheson/NADC Cemoplex
Buildings 7 5 2 4
Strucrmures 2 1 - 3
Sites - - - 0
West Flat
Buildings 1 2 . 3
Structures | - - i
Sites - - - 0
Flat Creek Road
Buildings 3 4 1 8
Structures - 1 - 1
Sites [* 4 1 6
Southcentral Flat
Buildings 6 1 0 T
Structures - - - 0
Sites 1* - 1 2
Airstrip
Buildings 1 3 - 4
Structures - - - 0
Sites - 1 - 1
Red Light District
Buildings T 4 3 14
Struciures - - - 4]
Sites 2" 1 3 6
Northwest Flat
Buildings 2 2 - 4
Struciures - - - 0
Sites - 2 - 2
Totals for Flat
Buildings 48 25 8 81
Structures 3 2 - 5
Sites o= 10 ] 24
Totals 60 37 13 110

* = Buildings moved before they became sites

Tabie 3. Flat historic resources
that have been moved,
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The historic properties in Flat (Figure 169) consist of a second or third generation mining
camp dating from the 19305 and early 1940s. Many of the town’s important commercial and
public buildings have heen moved and Flat’s frontier sireet-scapes of the 1910s have
disappeared.

As Flat matured as a community in the late 1910s, 1920s and 1930s, more families
settled in the town. In general, industrial, commercial, residential, and pubtic buildings reflected
the utilitarian nature of a mining camp. Due to the expense of building materials and the
availability of abandoned buildings in nearby Iditarod, many of the buildings in Flat that were
added after the 1924 fire were moved to Flat fromn Iditarod. New conunercial and residential
buildings constructed in Flat in the late 1920s and 1930s were larger than earlier buildings,
reflecting the accumulation of wealth by successful miners and businessmen.

Evaluation of praperties in the mining camps near Flat

‘The buiidings, structures and sites of the four mining canips near Flat represent the
historic theme of mining. Table 4 shows the historic uses of the 37 properties inventoried at the
Riley/Otter Creek Camp, the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp, the Riley Dredge, the Golden
Horn Camp, and the Fuilerton Camp on lower Flat Creek. All 19 buildings and structures at
the Riley/Otter Creek Camp were used for inining or mining related activities, although three
were used earlier as residences and one was associated earlier with the Marshall’s Office in Flat.
The six historic resources at the Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp, the one resource at the Riley
Dredge, the five resources at the Golden Hom Camp and the six historic resources at the
Fullerton Camp on lower Flat Creek were used for nining or mining related activities.

Proper-
Indust- Commer- Residen- Un- Total ties with Total

Survey Area rial cial tial Public known  Uses Multi-nge Properties
Riley/Otter Creek 19 - 3 1 - 23 (4] 19
Discovery/Miscovich 6 - - - - 6 - 6
Riley Dredge | - - - - 1 - 1
Golden Homn 5 - - - - 5 - 5
Fullenon (Flar Creek) b - - = = 6 = _6

Totals 37 ) 3 ! 0 41 [4] 37

Table 4. Historic uses of properties inventoried in the camps outside of Flat.

The historic resources at the four mining camps date from the 1910s to the 1970s. Table
5 provides a breakdown of the dates of consiruction of the properties in the mining camps near
Flat. Fourteen of the 37 historic resources at these camps date from the 1930s. The dates that
another 14 of the properties were constructed are unknown. The Riley/Otter Creek Camp
contains one building from the 1910s, one building from the 1920s, nine buildings and one
structure from the 1930s, one building from the early 1940s, and six buildings for which the
dates of construction are unknown, The Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp contains three build-
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Resource 1940- 1946+ or
Type 1910s 19205  1930s 1945 Unknown Total
Riley/Otter Creek Mining Comp
Buildings 1 1 9 1 6 18
Structures - - 1 - - 1
Sites = = = = = Q0
Subtotal i 1 10 1 6 19
Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp
Buildings - 3 1 - 2 6
Structures - - - - 0
Sites = = = = = 2
Subtotal 0 3 1 0 2 6
Riley Dredge
Buildings - - - - - 0
Structures t - - - - 1
Sites = = = = = 20
Subtatal 1 0 0 0 0 |
Golden Horn Mining Camp
Buildings - - 2 - - 2
Struclures - 2 1 - - 3
Sites = = = = = 0
Subtowal 0 . 3 0 0 5
Fullerion Mining Camp on lower Flat Creek
Buildings - - - - 4 4
Struciures - - - - - 0
Sites = = = = 2 2
Subiotal 0 0 0 0 6 6
Totals for the mining camps near Tlat
Buildings 1 4 12 I 12 30
Structures 1 2 2 0 0 5
Sites 0 0 0 0 2 2
Totals 2 6 14 1 14 37

Table 5. Dates of construction of buildings, structures
and sites in four mining camps near Flat.

ings from the 1920s, one building from the 1930s, and two buildings for which the dates of
construction are unknown. The Riley Dredge dates from the 1910s. The Golden Horn Mine
contains two structures from the 1920s and two buildings and one structure [rom the 1930s. The
Fullerton Mining Camp contains four buildings and two sites for which the dates of construction
are unknown. These resources originated at an earlier camp farther up Flat Creek and the dates
they were constructed are unknown.
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Potential eligibility under the National Register program

Many of the historic resources in the town of Flat are eligible for the National Register
of Historic Places (NRHP). Some historic resources, such as the Matheson Dredge, the
Matheson House, the Donnelley House, the Donnelley and Sheppard Store, the Tumner and
Wood Store and the Community Hall, appear to be eligible as individual properties associated
with the respective themes of mining, commerce or community development in Flat from the
late 1920s to the late 1930s. These properties are locally significant and eligible under one or
more of the following NRHP criteria: Criterion A (association with events that have made a
significant contribution to the hroad patterns of history), Criterion B (association with the lives
of persons significant in the past), or Criterion C (emhodiment of the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction, or that represent the work of a master, or that
possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose
components may lack individual distinction) (U.S. Departinent of the Interior 1992).

An additional numher of historic properties in Flat are likely be eligihle for the NRHP
if they are nominated as part of a historic district associated with the Iditarod National Historic
Trail. The town of Flat contains the largest concentration of gold rush era (1910-1940) huildings
associated with the Iditarod National Historic Trail. A preliminary estunate (Appendix A, far
right column) of potential eligibility indicates that as many as 80 historic properties in Flat may
be eligible in a NRHP district nomination as a third generation mining camp under the themes
of mining, commerce and community develop during the period 1930-1940. Flat was the
largest mining camp in the Iditarod mining district and was an important destination on the
Iditarod Trail. Historic resources in a district nomination under an Iditarod National Historic
Trail multiple property nomination wouid be locally or regionally significant. Historic resources
in Flat could he eligible under one or more of NRHP Criterion A, B, C, or D (potential to yield
information important in prehistory or history).

The physical integrity of the buildings, structures and sites in Flat varies greatly.
Notmination of the resources would require a close look at each to determine which ones have
lost historic integrity. The large number of moved huildings in the town, many of which were
moved after the period of historic significance (1930-1940), will also require close scrutiny
under NRHP Criteria Consideration B, which sets special requirements for eligihility for
properties that have heen moved. Given the historic pattern of moving buildings and the period
of significance that the buildings represent, establishing the eligibility of individual buildings that
have been moved may not be too difficult. It will be imporiant to secure the support of the
owners of the buildings, structures, land, and mining claims in the nomination process to
encourage preservation and continued use of the resources in ways that will protect their historic
integrity.

Some of the historic resources associated with the mining camps near Flat also may be
eligible for the National Register. The Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp, the Riley Dredge, and
the Golden Horn Camp may be eligible as historic districts or elements of a district under the
theme of mining in the years 1920-1940. As in the case of Flat, the argument for eligibility of
these camps and historic resources would be strongest if they were nominated as part of a
multiple property nomination associated with the Iditarod National Historic Trail. Since ail of
the structures at the Riley/Otter Creek Camp and the Fullerton Camp were moved to those
locations in the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s, it appears doubtful that those two camps will meet the
eligibility criteria for the NRHP.
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Additional work needed

Flat is a unique community and contains the largest number of gold rush era buildings
associated with the Iditarod Trail. Preservation of these historic resources should be a priority
for both the building and fand owners. A National Register nomination would be an important
step toward gaining recognition of Flat’s unique role in the history of the Iditarod mining district
and the Iditarod National Historic Trail.

Additional work is needed before the historic resources in Flat and the nearby camps can
be nominated to the NRHP. Additional interviews should be conducted with former residents
knowledgeable about Lhe resources. Information about the date of construction, historic use,
changes over time, and movement of many of the buildings and structures is still unknown. The
interviews should focus on additional information about those buildings and structures. Location
and acquisition of photographs of Lhese historic resources during the years prior to 1940 are also
important as those photographs will help document changes in the buildings over time,

Careful comsideration should be given to the question of loss of physical and historic
tntegrity of the resources. Many of the buildings and structures in Flat and the nearby mining
camps are deteriorating from the elements, neglect, abandonment, lack of maintenance, and
salvage activities. Consideration should aiso be given to determining which historic ruins and
features in Flat retain physical context and significance that allow for interpretation of the
remains as historic archaeological sites.

There are many obstacles to preserving the historic resources in Flat and nearby mining
camps. The continued survival of these resources is threatened not only by neglect, lack of
maintenance, and salvage activities, but in some cases, such as the Golden Horn Mine, by future
miniug activities. The most serious obstacle to the preservation of these resources is the decline
of economic activity in the area. Historic buildings and structures will not survive unless there
is someone to use and maintain them. Mining has been on the decline in the area in recent
decades. Recent changes in mining laws and regulations have done little to encourage mining
activity in the area. Recreational use of the buildings may be an important use that will cause
them to be inaintained.

The pattern of land ownership is also an obstacle to preservation, The land is owned by
the federal government. It is staked as federal mining claims, which limits use of the land to
mining or mining related activity. Doyon Limited, the regional Native corporation in the area,
has selected the land under the Alaska Native Land Claims Settlement Act of 1971. Doyon will
probably become the new land owner if the mining claims are relinquished or invalidated.
Prospects for broadening the local economy beyond mining to other economic activities such as
tourism, recreation and guiding are poor if investors cannot purchase or ohtain long-term leases
on Lhe land under the buildings. Some buildings in Flat are owned by absentee owners who only
use Lhem seasonally. These owners are unlikely to make substantial investments in maintenance
if there is no chance of owning or leasing the iand under the buildings.

The historic resources in Flat and the nearby mining camps are an important part of
Alaska’s gold rush heritage. Recognition and preservation of these resources should be an
important goal of public agencies, private groups and individuals. A partnership of concerned
individuals and agencies would be a way to preserve Lhe historic buildings, structures and sites
in IFlat and the vearby mining camps.
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APPENDIX A. LIST OF PROPERTIES IN FLAT

Mid-town

AHRS  Rsrc Darte Hist. Date(s)
Property Name Number Type Built Use Moved
Community Hall IDT-070 DBldg 1925 Public 1943
Andy Miscovich Bar IDT-071 Site 1910s Resid/Comm 1925
Durand Restaurant/Joe Parker Bar  {DT-072 Sitc 1935 Comm 1945
Adams Cabin/Parker Generator Shed IDT-073 Bldg 1920s Resid/Comm 1948
Savage/Fullerion Garage IDT-074 Bldg 1930s? Indust/Resid 1948
Gustafson/Savage/Fullerion House  IDT-073 Bldg {938-39 Resid -
Alderson House IDT-076 Bldg 1[920s Resid/Public  1933/45
Hill/Day/Agoff House iDT-122 Bldg 1930s Resid 1945
Guggenheim Qffice/Uoiila House iDT-092 Bldg 1912 Indust/Resid  1928-29
Miscovich House/Uotila Shop IDT-243 Bidg 1910s Resid 1920
Guggenheim Hospital/School House IDT-093 Bidg 1910s Pubtic 1921
Mutchler/Miscovich House IDT-094 Bldg 1918 Resid 1925
Michaeis/Miscovich House IDT-095 Bldg 1910s Resid 1921-22
Awe/Fullerton Shop IDT-096 Bldg 1935 Indust 19305
Mutchler/Uotila/Fulierton Bam IDT-097 Bldg 1910s Indust 1920s
Mutchler/Hard/Uotila/Awe

Blacksmith Shop IDT098 Site 19i0s Lodust 19205
DeHouse/Kobier Building IDT-099 Bldg 1927-28 Resid 1930s
Uotila/Marcell House Ruins IDT-100 Site 19205 Resid 1920s
Williams House IDT-101 Bldg 1980s Resid -
Donnelley Commercial Complex

AHRS Rsrc Date Hist. Date(s)
Property Name No. Type Built Use Moved
Donnelley and Sheppard Store IDT-077 Bldg 1927-28 Comm 1966
Cold Storage Building iDT 078 Bldg 1930s Comm 1936-37
Assay Office IDT-079 Bldg 19103 Comm 1935/66
Turmer/Donnelley Warehouse IDT-080 Bldg 1920 Comm 1936
Donnelley Garage IDT-081 Bildg [930s Comm Unknown
Donnelley Lumber Warehouse IDT-082 Bidg 19205 or 30s Comm -
Donnelley Pipe Warehouse IDT-083 Bidg 1930s Comm Unknown
Donnelley/Standard Oil Warehouse 1DT-084 Bldg 19205 Coinm 1930s
Donnclley House IDT-085 Bldg 1937 or38 Resid -

Turner and Wood Commercial Complex

AHRS  Rsre Date Hist. Date(s)
Property Name No. Type Buil Use Moved
Turmer and Wood Store IDT-086 Bidg 1920s Comm 1937
Tumner and Wood Warehouse #1 IDT-087 Bldg 1910s Comm 19305
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AHRS Rsre Dare Hist. Date{s)
Property Name Na, Type Buill Use Moved
Turner and Wood Warchouse #2 IDT-088 Bldg 1920s Comm 1930s
Adams/Lawrence Hotel IDT-GB9 Site 1930 Corun -
Adams Dog Barn IDT-090 B5ite 1920s Comm 19205
ACS Wireless Station Site [DT-091 Site 1920s Public -

Matheson/North American Dredging Company (NADC) Complex

AHRS Rsre  Date Hist. Date{s)
Property Namme No. Type Buili Use Moaved
Matheson House IDT-102 Bldg 1937-38 Resid --
Matheson Guesthouse IBT-103 Bldg Unknown  Unkmown 1960s
Mess Hall IDT-104 Bldg 1930s Tndust 1945
Mathesen Storage Building IDT-105 Bldg 1930s Indust Unknown --
Matheson Garage iDT-106 Bldg 1930s? Indust Ugknown -
Byrd/Stevens Garage IDT-i07 Bldg 1930s? Resid 1977
NADC Parts Warehouse IDT-108 Bldg 1920s Indust -
NADC Washraom IDT-109 Bldg 1920s or 30s Indust -
NADC Machine Shop IDT-110 Bidg 1920s or 30s Indust -
NADC Garage IDT-111 Bidg 194647 Indust --
NADC Wanigan IDT-112 Stret  1930s Indust 1930-50s
Balange Carpentry Shop IDT-113 Bldg 19487 Resid 1948172
Applebaum House/Stevens Garage  IDT-114 Bldg 1930s Resid/Indust 1972
Joe Mitchell Cabin IDT-115 Bidg 1930s? Resid 1966
NADC Drilling Rig IDT-116 Struct 1920s? [ndust 1920-50s
Shed on Skids IDT-117 Bidg 1920s? indusy 1920-30s
Site ZZZZ - Struct 1910s? Indust 1910-50s
Flat Creek Ditch IDT-144 Struct 1910s Indust --

West Flat

AHRS Rsrc  Date Hist. Date(s)
Propeny Name No. Type Built Use Moved
Matheson Dredge IDT-118 Struct 1916/1938  Indust 1910-60s
Jensen/NADC Pump House IDT-119 Bldg 1930s indust 1946
Tumer/Hatten/Agoff Catsheds IDT-120 Bidg 194041 Indust -
Site E-2 - Site Unknown  Indust 1993
Sagoff/Demientief{/Wintz House IDT-121 Bidg 1933 Resid 1946

Flat Creek Road

AHRS Rsrc  Date Hist. Date(s)
Propery Name No. Type Built Use Moved
Fullerion/Durand/Roper/Byrd House IDT-133 Bldg 1920s Resid 1929/30s
Remington/Duffy/Baquir House IDT-134 Bldg 1920s Resid 1937.38
Harry Apoff House IDT-i35 Bldg 1920s Resid i933/48
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APPENDIX B. LIST OF PROPERTIES OUTSIDE OF FLAT

Riley/Otter Creek Camp (IDT-201)

AHRS  Rsrc Date Hist. Date(s) Original NRHP
Property Name No. Type Built Use Moved  Locaion  Critegia
Mess Hall Building IDT-202 Blug 1937 lodust 19405 &
1960s  Slate Crk -
Pomgran/Aiken/Miscov. Guesthouse IDT-203 Bldg 1930s Indust 1940s &
1960s  Willow Crtk -
Generator Shed IDT-204 Bldg 1920s? Public/Indust  1960s Flat -
Bunkhouse #1 IDT-205 Bldg 1930s indust 1960s Disc/Misco-
vich Camp -
Bathhouse IDT-206 Bldg 1930s Indust 1960s Slate Ck -
Bunkhouse #2 iIDT-207 Bldg 1930s Indust 1960s Disc/Misco-
vich Camp -
Bunkhouse #3 IDT-208 Bidg 1930s? Indust 1960s Disc/Misco-
vich Camp -
Office and Workshop IDT-209 Bldg Unknown  Indust 1960s Disc/Misco-
vich Camp -
Well House IDT-210 Bldg 1930s Indust 1960s Slate Crk -
DeHnuse Resid./Miscovich Garage IDT-211 Bldg 1930s Resid/indust 1958 Flat -
Cat Shed IDT-212 Bldg 1960s Indust - - -
Machine Shop IDT-213 Bldg 1940s indust 1960s Slate Crk -
Fuel Storage Shed IDT-214 Bldg Unknown  Resid/Indust 1960s Dise/Misco-
vich Camp -
Riley Office/Kobler Cabin IDT-215 Bldg 1910-11 {indust 1960 Riley/Otier
Crk Camp A
Warehouse IDT-216 Bidg Unknown  Resid/Indust 1979 Flat -
Golden Hom Power House IDT-217 Bidg 1930s Indust 1970s Golden Hom
Mine -
Drilling Shack on Skids IDT-218 Bldg Unknown  Indust 1960s Disc/Misco-
vieh Camp -
Site Z - Bldg 1970s? {ndust 19903 Riley/Otter
Crk Camp -
Miscovich Shovel IDT-219 Siruct 1935 [ndnst 1935-70s Disc/Misco-
vich Camp AC
Discovery/Peter Miscovich Camp (IDT-221)
AHRS  Rsrc Date Hist. Date(s} Orginal NRHFP
Property Name No. Type Built Use Moved = Location  Criteria
Bunkhouse IDT-222 Bidg 1928 Indust - - A
Workshop and Garage IDT-223 Bldg 193§ Indust - - A
Peter Miscovich Office/Residence IDT-224 Bldp [920s Indust 1948 Drisc/Misco-
vichCamp A
Parts Shed IDT-226 Bldg Unknown  Indust Unknown -- ?
Generator Shed IDT-225 Bldg Unknown Indust Unknown -- ?
Blacksmith Shop IDT-227 Bldg 1920s [ndust 1924 Flat A
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Riley/Miscovich Dredge (IDT-220)

AHRS  Rsrc  Date Hist. Date(s)
Property Name No. Type Built Use Moved
Ritey/Miscavich Dredge IDT-220 Struct 1914/1938  Indust 1914.66

Coiden Horn Mine (IDT-228)

AHRS Rsrc  Daie Hist. Date(s}
Property Name No. Type Built Use Moved
Assay Office IDT-233 Bldg 1930s Indust --
Bunkhouse IDT-232 Bldg 1930s Indust --
Log Cribbed Shaft IDT-229 Siruct 1921-22 Indust --
Wood Framed Shaft IDT-230 Struct 1934 Indust -
Horizonial Adit IDT-231 Struct 1921 Indust -

Fullerton Mining Camp on lower Fiat Creek (IDT-234)

AHRS

Property Name No.

Small Bunkhouse IDT-237
Giarage IDT-238
Storage Shed IDT-239
Ouihouse Ruoins IDT-240
Workshop Ruins IDT-241
Fullerton Shed IDT-242

Rsrc
Type
Bidg
Bldg
Bldg
Site

Site

Bidg

Date Hist. Date(s)
Built Use Moved
Unknown Indust 19505
Unknown Indust 19505
Unknown Indust 19505
Unknown {ndust 19505
Unknown indust 19505
Unknown indust 19505
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Location _ Crileria
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